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ment with him, and the Emperor was left alone, as before,
with hig own people,

He sent brave Shaikh "All Beg (Jelair) and Muzaffur Beg
Turkman towards the lnrge distriet of Jajki (Haj-kan). (a98)
Mirzn Shih Hugain sent a force to attack him, and there
was & famous fight. At last Muoznffar Beg was routed and
fled, and Sheikh "Al Beg (Jelarr) was killed and perished
with all his men.!

A squabble arose hetween IKhilid Beg® and Tarsh Beg, a
brother of SBhaham Khaw Jelawr and his Majesty turned
all his favour to Warsh Beg.  So Khalid Beg deserted and
went with all hig men to Mir Shah !Husain, Then the
Emperor ordered IKhilid Beg’s mother, Sultanam, to prison
and this made Gul-barg” Begam angry. Then he forgave
Sultanam and gave her leave to go to the blessed Makka
with Gul-barg Begam. Soon after this Tarsh Ier also
deserted. The Emperor cursed him, and said: ‘ For hig
sake, 1 dealt harshly with IKhalid Beg, who on thig
account left the circle of the faithful for the circle of the
disloyal. Tarsh Boeg will die young.” So it was!  Fifteen
days later, o servant killed him with a knife as he lay
sleeping in a boat. Whoen the Limperor heard of it he
arew sad and ilhoughtful, (s0¢) Bhih Husain Mirza
brought boats up the river to near Jun, and his men and
the Emperor's often fought on board, and many were kitled
on both sides. Day by day there were desertions to Shih
Husgain. In onsg of thesc fights was killed Mulia Taju-d-din
whom his Majesty held in the greatest favour as a peart of
knowledge.

There was a squabble between Tardi Muhammad Khin
and Ma'nim Khin. Mu'nim Khin consequently deserted.

I A stubborn fight, and fatcful for IHumfiyin. It occurred in
November, 1543,

2 Son of Nizimu-d-din ‘Al Khelifa Barlis and of Sulidinam who
appears to be Gul-badan’s former hostess (14a).

3 Daughter of Khalifi, and as such sister or half-sister of Khialhd,
and daunghter or stepduugiter of Sullinam, Bhe iy, I helieve, the
Gul-barg of earlicr episodes and n wife of Huna-{n,






INCIDENTS FOLLOWING THE BINTH OF AKBAR.
At the top, on the right, are Hamda-banii and the child ; on the left, the

news 16 announced with sonnd of castanets and taanbourines.

In the middle, the hour of birih is being communicated to the astrologers.

At the foub, the news is being given to Humayun by ‘I'ardi Beg, and is welcomsd
by musie and dancing,

[ Fa face p. 158,
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there was born his imperigl Majesty, the world’s refuge
and congueror, Jalalu-d-din Muhammad Akbar (/hazi. The
moon was in Leo. It was of vory good omen that the birth
was 1 a fixed Sign, and the astrologers said a el:ild so born
would be fortunate and long-lived. The Emperor was some
thirty miles away when Tardi Mubhammad Khian took the
news to him. 1le was lhughly delighted, ana by way of
reward and lavgesse (wisdr) for the tidings he forgave all
soever of Tardi Muhammad Khan's past ofleners. Ho
gave the child the name he had heard mn hus dream ab
Lihar, the Emperor Jalilu-d-din Mubammad Akbav.

On leaving this place, the Jineror went towards DBhakkar
with as many as 10,000 men who had gathered round him,
people of the rind and of the ontlying tribes and Siulmas
(Sodhias) and Samichas, (0} They reached the distriet of
Jun, whoere there was one of Shah [Tusam’s servants with
some troopers. ®He fled.! Flere there wus tho Mirror
Garden, a very pleasant and cnjoyable place where the
Emperor alighted. He agsigned ifs villages (2 of Jin) in
Jagir to hig followers.

1t 13 a six days’ Jouwrney from Jan to Tatta. The Iimperor
wag as mueh as six® months in Jan, and brought his family
and people and the whole "[Umrkot party there.” The
Iimperor Jalilu-d-din Mubammad Alkbar was six months
old when they took hium to Jian. The party which had
come from various places with the royal fumily and the
haram now broke up.  Ag for the rind, he marched off af
miidnight for hig own country, on aceount of a coolness®
caused by some tilk between hinm and Tardi Muhammad
Khin,® Al the Sadmas and Samichas went off by agree-

Cf 13, & H., L1., 256, for stories of the taking of Jan.

Other writers say nine.
“ Hamida and her baby were zood travellers. They left 'Tinrkat
when the ¢hild was under five weeks old (November 20th), and joined
Humiayiin early in Deecember {(1542). |

1 ghukr yangi. 1 do not tind this word in diciionaries, and translate
tentatively on the analogy of shwkr-ab, a tiff.

* Other writere give Khwija Ghiizl as the second in thoe quarrel.

b -
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his own water-bottle. When cveryone had drank his fill.
they marched on again at afternoon prayer-time.

After a day and a night they rveached a large tank, The
horses ana camels went inlo the water and drank so mueh
that many died. There had not been many horses, but
there were mules and ecamels. (3a) Beyond thig place
woter was found at every stage on the way to "Umrkot,]
which 1s a beautiful place with many tanks.

The rina® gave the Emperor an hoenouralile receplion,
and took him into the fort, and assicned him exccllent
quarters. He gave places outside to the amirs” people.
Many things were very cheap indeed ; four goats eould le
had for one rupi.  The rind made many gifts of kids and
s0 on, and paid such litting service that what fongue could
seb 1t forth ¥

severct days were spont in peace and comfort,

The treasury was empty. 'Tardi Beg Khin had a greal
deal of mone;, and the Kmnperor having asked him for a
conglderabic loan, he lent 80,000 ashrefis at the rate of two
mn ten.’ 1lis Majesty portioned ont this money io the
army. lle bestowed sword-helts aud cap-a-pie dresses on
the rani and hig gons.  Many people bought fresh horses
here.

Miv Bhah lusain had killed the rina’s father. For this,
amongst oflier reasons, the rani colleeted 2,000 or 8,000
cood soldiers and set out with the IKmporor for Bhakkar.?
(480)

In "Umrkot ho lefi many people, and his family and
relations, and also Khwija Mu'azzam to have charge of the
harain.  Hamida-Lant Begam was with child. Threeo days
after his Majesty's departure, and in the carly morning of

Sunday, the fourth day of the revered Lajab, O49H.°

————

1 The little desert town must ndecd have seemed o huven after the
terrible journcy, and not lesst so to the young wile who some two
meonths later became the mother of Akbar, Humayon renchied 'Umrkos
on August 22nd, 1542 (Jumida 1. 10th, 94011

* Toxt, passtm, ra'nd,  The "Umrkot rini’s namnme was Parsad,

3 (?) 20 per cent. Cf. Mems,, 183,

 After u stay of seven weeke in "Uinrkot, ® Outober 15th, 1542,
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Sevaml more (of the royal froop) hit others with arrows ;
tite Infidels furned to flee, and the fight was won. Thay
brought In several prisoners alive. Then the eamp went
slowly, slowly on; but his Majesty was far ahewd. Those
who had recited the saiihe came up with the eamp.

There wag a muace-bearcer named Bihbid, They sent him
caHoping after the Ilmperor, to say: ¢ Let your Majesty go
slowly. Dy lleaven's grace, a viclory has been vouchsafed,
and the nifidels have fled.” DBihibtd himgelf was token to
the prescnce, and eonveyed the good news,!

His Majesty dismounted, and a little water even (ham)?
was found, buf he was anxions about the amirvs, and said :
“What has happened to them?” Then hovrsemen appsared
in the distance, and again there was a cry : “(God forbid !
Maldeo I'®  1lis Majesty sent a man for information, who
came running back and said: ¢ Ishan-tmur bBul‘in, and
Mirzi Yadgir, afid Munim Khin aro all coming, safe
and sound.” They had missed theiwr way. Their refurn
rejoiced the Iimperor, who rendered thanks to God.

Next morning they marched on. I'or three days they
found no water. (178  On the fourth, they came to some
very deep wells, the water of which was extraordinarily
red. The Imperor halted and ahghted near one of the
wellz ; Tardi Beg Khan was at another; at a third, Mirza
Yadgar, and Mu'nim Khan, and Nadim Aidla ; and at the
fourth, Ishin-timar Sultin, and Khwaja Ghazi, and
Raushan fitha.

As each bucket caine oub of the wells into reach, people
flung themselves on 1t ; the ropes broke, and {ive or six
persong fell into the wells with the buckets. Many perished
from thirst. When the limperor saw men flinging them-
solves Into the wells from thirst, he let anyone drink from

an —_— - - . —_———— o r——_—— —_—— —— .. - - .

I And also, iied to his girths, two heads of foes which ho flung at
Humiyiin's feet,

2 to brim of the cup of joy,

4 These cries remind one that even now Hundy{in niust have had

with him a huge contingent of helpless beings, woren and children
nnd non-cormbataktsy,
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my horge.” 1t would seem that Nadim! Beg heard that his
Majesly was giving his horso to the begam and thinking
of riding a camel, for he monnted his own mother on a
camel ana gave her horse to the Kmperor.

His Majesty look a guide from this place, and mounted
and rode for “Umrkot, It wos extremely hot; horses and
(otheyr) quadrupeds® kept sinking to the knces in the sand,
and Mildeo was behird.  On they went, thirsty and hungry.
Many, women and men, were on foot. (4h)

On the approach of Maldeo’s troopg, the Emperor said
to Ishin(lsin)-timur Sultin and to Mu'nim Khin?® and a
nuniber of others: ‘Yo all ecome slowly, and watch the
encmy till we have gone on o few miles.” They wailed ; 1t
grew night, and they nussed their way.

All through that night the Emperor went on, and at
dawn a watering-pluce was found. For threc duys the
horscs had wot drunk., He had dismounted when a man
ran in, shouting : * The Tlindos are coming up m numbers,
mounted on horscs and camels.” Then the Kmperor dis-
missed Shatkh "Al Beg (J«lair), and Raushan hake and
Nadim A7ika, and M Payanda Muhammad, brother of
Muhammad Wali, and many others.

They recited the jatia, and his Majesty satd @ “Go, light
the infidels!” He thought: ‘Ishan-timdr Sultan, and
Munim Kluin,' and Mirzd Yadgir,” and the rest whom we
left behind, have heen Lilled or eaplured by these people
who have now come to attack ug” He mounted and left
tho camyp with a few followers.

Q! the band which his Majesty had sent out to fight
after reciting the jaiika, Shaikh "All Bey struck the Rajput
captain with an arrow, and cast him from his horsc, (47e)

JR— —_ = . . - - ——

1 The husband of Miham awrage, Akbar's celebrated nurse, (LA B.J.,
January, 1899, ark. Malian anage, 1L Heveridge,)  1lis mother was
Fukhru-n-nisi'.  Cf. Gul-badan, 26 and 71,

¢ Terhaps ponies only.  Text, efidiedt.

3 (Gul-chihra's husband.

1 The well-known Hdn-L-Lloindn of Akbar's reign.,

i Perhaps * Unelo Yadgir® (faqfiie), the father of Bega Ilegam,
Yrdgnr-niisir was not here, bul still in Sind.
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raja was In Jodhpur, and Sent armoar and a camel’s-load
of ashrasis, and greatly comforted his Majesty by saying:
‘You are welcome! I give you DBikanir.’ Tho Emperor
halted with an easy mind, and despatched .fthe Khin
(Shamsu-d-din Ghaznact) to Maldeo, and gaid : ¢ What will
his answer be ?! ,
In the downfall and desolation i 1hind, Mulla Surkl,
the librarian, had gone to Mialdeo, and had enterod his
service. (450) He now wrote:  Beware, a thousand times
beware of advancing. Mareh at onee from whurever
you are, for M:ildeo miends to make you prisoner. IPuf no
trust m his words. There eame here an envoy from Shir
khan whoe brought a letter to say: “ iy whalever meang
you know and ean use, capture that king. If youn will do
this, I will give you Nagir and Alwar and whatever place
you asgk for.” ' Athe Khin also snid when he came: This
18 no time for standing.” Ho at afternoon prayer-time the
Emperor marched off. When he was mounting, they
eaptured two spies and brought them bound before him,
He was questloning them when suddenly they got their
hands free, and one snntehed a sword from the belt of
Muhammad fird-ba: and struck him with 1, and then
wounded DBagi (fualidré. The other at once unsheathed?
a dagger and faced the bLystanders, wounded several and
killed the mperor’s riding-horse. They did much misehief
betore they were lalled. (16e¢) Just then there was a cry,
‘Maldeo 1s here!” The Emperor had no horse fit for
FHamida-bana Begam. Ie may hove asked for one for
her from Tardi Beg,® who apparently did not give it.  He
then said : * Let the camel of Jauhar, the ewcer-bearcr, bo
got ready for me. I will ride it, and the begam may have

b Presunbly to Afke Khian's message fronm Hamiynmn,

(M) gird-biazp, strong-linbed,

4 Doubtful translation ; ax maydn yak hashida.

i This excellent officer is frequently = scapegoat.  Our bogam, how-
ever, imputes her blame tentatively. For esuinate of his character see
B.& H., I. and, k1., s.2.. Jauhar brings laoshan Beg info a similar
gtory of this terrible journey.
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come near DBhakkar,® do not let him in. DBhakkar may,
remein your holding. [ am with you; T will sive you my
own danghter.’” The mirzit behieved him and did not allow
the Iimper.r to enter the fort, but wished to make him go
on, elther by force or fraud.

His Majesty sent o messenger to say @ ¢ I3iha,” you nre as
a son to me. I left you 1n my stead, so that you might
help me in case of need.  What you aro doing is done by
the evil coungel of youwr servants.  Those faithless servants
will I faithless to vou also.” Whatever his Majesly urged
had no effeet.” Then he said: * Very well! T shall go o
Raja Mialdeo.* T have bestowaed this enountry on vou, but
Shih ITusain will not let you keep it.  You will remember
my words.” Having said this to the mirza, the INmperor
marched away by way of Jizalmir, fowards Maldeo. lle
reached Fort Diliwar (Dirawal), on the rija’s frontier, a
few days later. (15¢) He stayed there two days. Neither
corn nor grase was to be had, 1le then went to Jigalnir,
and on his approach the rija sent ont troops to occupy the
road, and theve was fichting.  The mperor and sowe
others went aside off the road. BSoveral men were wounded:
Alash® Beg, brother of Shaham Jfelaor and Pir Mluhammad
the equerry, and Laushang the wavrdrobe-keeper, and some
others.’ At length the royal troops won and the infidels
fled into the fort. That day the IImperor travelled GO kos
(e¢ir. 120 miles), and then halted on the bank of a reservoir,

Next he came into Sitalmir, where he was harassed all
day 6ill he reached Pahiudi, a pargane of Maldeo, The

! The mirzi was ot Ribr and bad nol possession of the fort.  CFf,
B, & H., I11., 226, for a «ood account of his lreachery and eveduliby,

3 {?) ¢ My dear boy '—the Persian word of endearment.  The relative
position and ages of Humiynin and Yadgic nasir make © father’ in-
appropriate.

3 In this extremity Hieayiin turned his thoughts townnis Maklka,

t i of Judpir (Mirwir), who had profiered lelp.

b ¥ar.,, Lish and Tarsh,—all three names of such disagreeabls
import as to suggest vhat they nre cither nicknanmes or were bestowed
to ward off evil intluenees. Perhaps itlis should be read. €, App. s.n..

8 Muaqim Hardwi, father of Nigimu-d-din Ahmad, took part in this
engagernent.
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which 18 s1x or seven days' journey from Tatta.! Sehwan
hag a strong fort, in which was Mir "Alikn, a servant of hig
Majesty the Emperor.2 There were severu! cannon, so no
one could possibly go noar. Some of thoe royvil soldierg
made trenches, and got near and gave him ("Allka) advice,
and sald : (44a) ¢ Disloyalty 18 not well at such a time,” hut
Mir "Alika did not agree with them. Then tucy made a
mine and cast down a tower, but they could not take the
fort. Corn beeamae dear and many men aeserted. The
Emperor spent six or saven months there.

Mirzda Shih Ilusain freacherously laid hands on the
royal soldicrs mn all direetions, nnd wmade them over to his
people, and said : ¢ Take them and throw them into the salt
gea.” Three® or four hundred would o cathered mto one
placo and flung into boats and thrown into the sca, till as
many as 10,000 were cast forth.

*As after this there were few men even with the Fomperor,
(? Shah Husain) filled several boats with cannon and
rauskets, and came from Tatta against him. Schwin is
near the river. {7 Mir "Alika) hindered the coming of the
royal boats and provisions, and sent to say: () I am
maintaining my loyalty. March off quickly.” Having no-
remedy, the Kmperor turned to Bhalkkar,

When he came near and before he conld reach it, Mir
(shah) Husain Samandar had sent word to AMirza Yidgar-
nasiv : (445) “ If the Fmperor, when he is retreating, should

I Semblance of relevance ean be given to this statenient only by
refercnce to other writers. Tluiuayiin had intended to go to Tatta ot
this time, and wag diverted frown the journey by o slight sucerss of
arms. He then bericged Schwan.

# Certainly not so, for ‘Alika was an Arghiin ond [ollower of Shith
[Tusain.  Perhuaps Gul-badan wroto or intended to convey that *Alika
had served Bibur as onee nll the Arghfing had done. Perhaps she
has confused tho Zinport of the story that Mir “Alika when sent by
shiah Ilusain to take command of Sehwian, actually passed through
Humiiylin's lines and the biizar without recognition as an eneny.

+ Text, thirty—sisad. No wonder Humivin's foree vanishod | Ie
18 said to have left Hindiistan, ¢.c., Lihor, with a following of 200,000.
This presumably included Kawran's party, gnfl was made up of
soldiers and women, children, fraders, servants, ete,. At this time
Humiyhn had lost both Hindal's and Yadgar-nasir’s troops.

! The norrativ® becor.ies much confused here.
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witlh not go. G yourself and tell her.’ When Subhan
Quli went and spoke, the begam replied: ‘To see kings
once 18 lawful; a second time it is forbidden. 1 shall
not come. On this Subban Quli went and repregsented
what she had said. His Majesty remarked: ‘If she is
not & consort (urt malram), we will make her a consort
(mredram}.)

To eut the story short: For forty days the hegam
resisbee and discnased and disagroed. At last hor highness
my nother, Ihl-dar Degam, advised her, saying: ‘Affer
all you will marry someone. Bettor than a king, who is
there?” The begam said: Qb yes, T shall marry sone-
one; bnt he shall be a man whoso collar iy hand can
touch, and nol one whose skirt 1t does not reach.” Then
my mother agam gave her mueh advice. (43h)

At lanl, after forty days (discussion), at mid-day on
Monday (fault) Jumidu-l-awwal {si) 94811, (September,
1541}, and m Patly (si¢), hig Majesty took the astrolabe into
his own blesged hand and, having ehoson n propitious hour,
sminmoncd Mir Aba'l-bagi and ovdered him to make fast
the marriage bond. He gave the mir {two luks of ready
money for the dower! (nikdbdna), and having stayed three
days after the wedding in Pitr, he set out and went by
boat to Bhakkar.

He spent a month at Bhakkar and he send Mir Abi'l-baga
to Sultin Bheklart.,  The mir fell ill while away, and went
to the mercy of God.”

His Majesty then gave Mirza Hindal leave to go to
(Janlahir, and he dismissed Mirza Yadgar-nasir to his own
place, Lar. 1Ile himself went towards Peiwan® (Sehwanj,

{ Perhaps the ladies romanee a little here. Humiyiin was certainly
at a loss for rioncy now and later.

* This 15 not o historic account of the death. Ilo wus sent to
Yadgar-nasir and was ghot while erossing tho river on his return to
RithrT by adherents of Shah Husain, His death eaused great gricf to
Humitytin, (13, & H., I1., 222)

8 At the end of Septomiber, 1541, Ilindal's leave is a sisterly gloss
ont his acceptance of an invitation to Qandahir given by its governor,
Qaricha Khin.
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Babia Dost 15 related to us. Tt is fittirg that you should
give me his daughter in marriage.” Mirza Hindal kept on
making objections, and said : ‘I look on this girl as a sister
and child of my own. Your Majasty 18 a king. Heaven
forbid there should not le a proper alimony, and that so a
cause of annoyunce should arise.” |

His Majesty got angry, and rose and went away. Then
my mother wrote and sent a letter, saying: ¢The girvl’s
mother hag even hefore this been using persuasion.? It is
astonishing that you ghould go away in anger over a fow
words.,” He wrote in reply: ‘ Your story is very wolcome
to me. Whatever persuasion you may use, by my head
and syes, I will agree to 16, As for what they have written
about alimony, please Ueaven, what they ask will be done.
My walting eve is on the road.” DMy mother fetched his
Majesty, and on that day she gavo a parly. When it was
over, he went to his own quarters. (132) On another day
he came to my mother, and said: ‘Send someone to call
Hamidia-bianft Begam here.”  When she sent, the begam
did not come, but said: “If it is to pay my respeets, T was
exalted by paying my respects the olher day.  Why should
I eome agam?" Another time his Majesty sent Subhin
Quli, and sid : “ Go to Mirza Hindal, and tell Liim {0 gend
the begam.” The mirza said: ‘Whatever 1 may say, she

— — — e ————— —— e e = e ——aee - — mm e s i mam = s

! This looks like n side-glanece at the wasted fortunes of royalty.
No kingdom! No revenues! Whence then the dowry? [t is eloar
fromn the sequel that the nuportant point was being pressed,

Jauhar says that Tlamida had been already asked in marriage, hut
not betrothed or pexhaps promised.  Iler objections to inarry Hmayan
seann personal, and muy indicate preference for another and dislile for
aim.  She 1 said to have been fourteen years old and Humiyiin was
thivty-three, an opimn-eater, mud much mayried already.  Her objec-
tions, whatever their truec basis, must bhave been strong or they could
hardly have survived, for Gul-badan to record, through the many years
of prosperity and proud motherhood which her husband's renewed
sovereignty in indin and ber son’s distinetion secured to her,

Behind Gul-badan’s story of the wooning of Ilnmida there were
doubtless many talks over ¢ old times’ when the voyal aullioress was
freshening her mentory for her literary tusk, begun (it seemis probable)
when she was nbout sixty-five and Ilamida some few years younger.

¢ Midar-1-dukhttar az in ham peshiar nde mikanad. Perhaps,
‘ caressed the idea.” -
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Shaikh “Abdua-l-ghafnr,' to ask: ‘How mmuch longer will
you l.e? What prevents you from coming? (42«) Things
have come to such a pass that there is inconvenieneco, and
many of m,; men are deserting,” The reply wag: ‘My
daughter® 18 promised to Mirza Kamran, and a meeting
with me 18 impossible. I eould not wait on you.’

As at thig timo Mirzad Mubammad Hindil crossed the
river, some sald he wight be going to Qandahir® On
hearing this his Majesty sent several people after him fo
make inquiry and to say: *It 18 reported that vou plan
roing to CQandahar,” When questioned, the mirza said:
‘People have given a wrong nnpression.” On thig the
Iimperor came! 1o see hor TTighness my mother.

The mirza’s barwn and all his people paid their respeets
to hig Majesty at this meeting. Concerning {[amida-banu
Begam, h.s Majesty asked: *Who s thig? Thoy sad:
‘The daughter of Mir Baba Dost.” Khwija Mua azzam® was
standing oppouite his Majesty, who said: ‘'I'his boy will
be one of my kinsmen (too?)."*  Of TTamida-bann he said
‘ She, too, 13 related to me.” (428)

In those days llamida-hiant Begam was often in the
mirzi's restdence (meaball). Another day when his Majesty
came to sce hev IMighness my mother, he remarked: ¢ Mir

—_—— a— [R— . f m———— = = . - - L, [ECEI S S .- —_- —_—

D HTumnayin's trensurer (werr-i-uedd) whose officin]l funclions st
now have been of the least prossing,

* The ndmirable Mih-chilehak who insisted upon accompanying the
blinded Wdimran to Mukka,  As her peer In compassion iy be com-
memaorated Chiltin Beg kika. (B, & L, 11, 418,

4 1fe eneamped at Al (text, Pated, about twenty miles west of Lhe
Indus rud about forty miles north of Sehwin. DMt 1s 1 the sarkdar
of Siwistin, a little to the ecast of the highroad {0 Hydeeibiad, and not
~far north of Meing, the scene of I\Ltl‘rlerb victory of 1844, I amn in-
debted tu Alajor- General Maleohn K. Haig for tlm inforination that
't is ‘now o ruin, having been qutmwd in tho latter part of the
cighteenth century when two Kalhora chiefs of Sind ealled in the
Afghiins to quel’ domestie troubles.’

y Leaving his troops to prosecute tho siege of Bhalkkar, and passing
through Dirbila where was his ecousin, Yadgiv-nfsiz.  Trom tho
wording it yight be supposcd that Gul-badan was with bier wother in
i, but T belicye sho was in Kibul at this tine,

? f{f. Appendix, .7, 1lanada-bini.

& {?) interrogative, bat the preceding verb is guftand, and not pursi-
dand,
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and many men. His Mwiesty sent himi a banner and
kettledrums, and a horse, and u head-to-foot suit, and asked
for boats and also for corn.  After a thime Bakhshi Belichi
got together and sent about o hundred boats full of corn
foo, for the royal service,—a proper attention which pleased
the limperor vory much. He divided the corn amongst his
people, and crossed the water? gafe and sound. May merey
be shown to Bakhshi for Ins dutiful gervice!

After a weary journey, they reached Ishakkar at last.
The fort is 1n the middle of the river and very strong.
The governor, Sultin Mabmad {Dheklari),® had fortified
nimgelf m i, (418) The Hmperor alighled safe and well
over against tne fort, near which was a garden® made by
Mirza Shah Husaln Samandar.

At Jength his Majesty sent Mir Samandar to Shib
Fusamm Mirzda with this moessace: “ We have come nto
your territory hmder compulsion. BMay your country be
blessed to you! We shall not tuke possessicn of 15, Would
to lleaven you would yoursclf come and puy us your
vespects, and do us the service which is owr dus! We
mtend to go to Gujrit, and should leave you your own
couniry.” DBy tricks and wiles, Shall Tlasain kept his
Majesty as much as five months in Samandar; then he
sent a person to waib on him, and to say: ‘I awm arranging
my daughter’s wedding-feast, and 1 send (someonc) to wait
on you. I shall eome {later).” Efis Majesty helicved him,
and warted still three months, Sowctimes there was corn
to be had, somelimes not. The soldiers Lilled and ate
their horses and eamels, Then lig Majesty sont agein, by

[— —_

I The (firs, nenr Uch.

¢ Toster-brother of Shah Husain Awgliin, and the man for whom
pIdi "All Reis negotinted terins with Huwaayon in 1555,

A delightful garden, the Char-biigh of Rithri {(Litir), on the left.
bank of the Imlm shih ITusain folt no anxiety as to ilitary opera-
tione after hearing that Huum;, in had exmped here.  Chir-bagh seems
to denote & royal und private garden,

+ + A place in Hindastan from which aloes aze bmurrht ' ‘{Bteingass,

s.v..)  UF. Bamandiiri, aloc-wood, of the Ain. {Bl{mhnmun 50.)
Sanandar scems an equivalent for Sind.
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The Iimperor was pleased to say: ‘ With my brothers’
concrrrence, 1 shall go to Badakhshan. (b)) Let Kabul
remain the fief of Mirza Kamran,  DBul Mirzd Kamrian
would nné ~onsent to (his Majesty’s) going to kabul,! and
sald : ‘In hig Lifctime the Emperor Firdaus-malant gave
Kabul to my mother (Gulrukh DBegam}, It 15 not rvight
(for you) to go to Kabul.’

Then said iy Majesty @ ¢ As for Kabul, his Majesty
Firdaus-makdans often used to say, “ My Kabul T will give
to no one; far rom 16! liet none of my sons covet it.
There God gave me all my children, and many victories
followed 1ts capture.” Morecver, this expression of opinion
15 recorded many times in his Wagi a-nama. What was
the good of my =howing kindness te the mirza from
civility and brotlierliness, 1f lie now kcep on talking in
this way !

Lot his Majesty talk as he wounld, paaiying and eon-
ciliating, the mirza resisted more and more.  When he saw
that there was & large following with Mirza Wamran, and
that the mirza was in no way willing for him fo go to
Kibul, he had no resource but to move towards Bhakkar
and Multin.  Having arvived in Multan, he halted one
day. (1a) A small quantily of corn was obtamed m the
fort and having divided that little amongst his men, he
marched on till he ecame to the bank of a river which was
seven rivers In one.? Ile stood distracted. There were
no boats, and he had a large camp with him.  Then there
camne word that Khawas Ihan,* with several amirs, was
comling up behind.

There was a Baluchi named Bakhshi (s¢) who had forts

-

t Hamrin may well have foarved that Humiynn would get no further
than IKKabunl on his way to Badakbshiun,

Y Z.e., the Indus.  The begant's ‘ seven” is intevesting. . *Sketeh
of the Hindistinl Language,” C. J. Lyall, p.1 n.. ¢ Hindo represents
an cavlier Ilondau, being the modern Persian for the ancient Hendava,
i.0., & dweller in the eountry of the sapla Iindii (Sk. sapla sindlin), or
“geven rivers,” now ealled, with the omission of two {probably the
Saraswati and Drishadwati or Ghagpar) the Panj-ib.’

¢ A follower of Shir Khan.

10—2
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In those days Bibi Gunwar' was with child. £fveryone
sald : ‘A son will be born.” In that same garden of Dost
munshi and in the month of Jumada’u-l-awwal, a daughter
was born whom they named Balhshi-bana.

At tlis tine his Majosty appointdd Mirza Hatdar to take
Kashmir. Mcantime, news wasg brought that Shir Khan
was there. A wonderful confusion follow:d, and the
Emperor decidod to march off next morning. (4na)

While the brothers were in Iahor, they conferred and
took counsel and asked advice, but they did not sctfle on
any single thing. At last fthe news was: ‘ Shir Khan is
here.” Then, as there was no help for 1, thoy marched off
at the first waten of the day (9 am.).

The Emperor’s wish was {0 go to Kashmir, wherc he had
gent Mirza [laidny Rashghari; but news of the mirzi's
success had not yet como, and people counsellod : ¢ If your
Majesty were tu go to Kashmir, and the country was not
congquored at once, 1t would—with Shir Khin in Lihdr—abe
a very diffienlt time.’

Khwaja Kilan Bes® was in Siilkot, and disposcd to serve
his Majesty. With him was Mua'yid Beg, who wrote:
‘The khwaja greatly wishes to serve you and would come,
but he has Mirzi Kamran to consider. 1f your Majesty
would come quickly, his help would be made casy in an
excellent way.” The Kmperor at once took arms and
equipment, and sct out to go to the khwija, and joined
company with him and brought him along.?

however, the coming e¢hild’s mother had Lo be of the same deseent, sinece
Humiiynin's elaim to rank as of the saint’s lineage required no prophetie
announcement. I[ndeed this story seems to cast doubt on that elaim,
Akbar’s mothor, [Tamida, was of the line of Alinad of Fam,  Se, too,
was Diega (11451 Degam,  Anothor of the somme fmnily was Biabi ox
Banu dgha, wife of SBhilhiabu-d-din Almad of Nishapar.

L To give value to Ahed's prophecy, IiThl Ginwar ought also to
have traced back to him. BShe does not seermt to have been o woman
of rank. The girl now born was at least the third child of Humayin,
there having been Al-wnan and "Aqiqa, childven of Legan Degam and
now hoth dead.

* The well-known old servant of Babar andsnow one of Kimrin's
chief ainirs.

5 The begu’s story here does not agree with thot of Mr, Erskine's
authorities. Mn'yid bBeg is the ill-adviser of the march from Dengal
to Chausa.
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will be an entertainment, and' 8hir Khan's envoy will be.
presont. If 1 maysit on a corner of your Majesty’'s earpet,
so thiat thero may be distietion betweon me and my brothers,
it will be a rause of my exaltation.™
ITamida-band Begam says it was his Majesty who wrote

and scent the following verse to the mirza? I hoad heard
thot he sent 1t to Shir Khan by the envoy. This i8 the
VOrse ;

“Althongh one's inage be shown 111 the mirror,

Tt vemains always apart from one's gself,” {z90)

“Tt 13 wonderful to see one's self in muthur forn ;
This muanevel will be the work of God’

When BShir Khan’s ambassador arrived he patd his
respects.

The Emperor’s blessed heart was cast down, IHo fell
asteep 1n a sad mood, and saw 1t a dream a vencrable man,
dressed In green from hend to fool and _arrying a staff
who said : ‘ Be of good cheer; do nof grieve;” and gave his
stafl Into the royal hand. *The most high God will give
you a son who shall be named Jaldfu-d-din Muhammad
Akbar.” 'The Fmperor asked: ‘ What 18 your honourable
name ?" o wnswered: ‘The Terrillle lilephant,* Ahmad
of Jam ;’ and added : © Your gon will e of my lineage.™

I T'or an account of IKunrdn's odious and fruitless treachery sec
B, & ., I1. 200 of seq..  The meaning of hig mwessagze to Hlumayan ia
not GIEJJ' to me.  Perhiops lre ‘I.‘l.-l*-uhﬂd to show the envoy thnt he was
ot on tho level of Hindal and "Askart, bat able to elaiin recognition as
a ruler and as I]_lllllfl,\.ljlll‘ﬁ erqual,  Perhaps ib was n lint to llmufu in
that he must recogniso Kuminrin's cquality in the lands in which
the latter had becn suprenio while he hinself raled m Dih]i,

At this time Humdyin was strongly advised to pud Kamrin to
death. He rvefuscd, bul later on and after o dreary wasto of good nature,
his filia} piety had to vyield to the common-sense of hig vietimized
followers and allow the blinding.

* At the tiine when the verse was writtent Hhanida wiss not wmarried.
The discussion in 1587 (eerea) of a ‘point’ between the ladics iv a
living touch to the old MS.. Which was likely to be right,—ILunids
who might later have heard the story from her husband, or Gul-badan
who was in Lihor?  Gul-badan puts the ditference of opimon gently
hut does not surrender, and leaves her readers to draw their own
inferences,

8 Zwnda-fil,
t Humiyiin was of the lineage of Ahmad of Jan: throvgh his mother

Maham. {A. N, Db, Ind., ed. T. 121. ) 'To givo force to the propliccy,
10
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and brought what was wanted for the princes and the
amirs,

His Majesty alighted in Khwija Ghizi’s garden near
Bibi Haj-taj.'! Every day there was news of Shir Khin;
and during the three months that the Fmperor was in
Lahor word was brought day after day: ¢ Shir Khan las
advanced four miles,” ¢ six miles,’ till he was near Sirhind.

One of the amirs was named Muzaffar Beg. e was a
Tirkman. The Kmperor sent him with Qazi "Abdu-l-lah
to bhir Ikhan o say: ¢ What justico i1s there in this? 1
havo lett you tho whole of 1lindustan.  Leave Lahor alone,
and let Birhind, where you are, be a boundary between you
and me.” (3«) But thalt unjust man, fearless of God, did
not congent, and answered : ‘I have left you kabul. You
should go thero.’

Muzaflar Deg marched at onee, and sent on arn express to
say : ‘A move must be made.” As soon as this message
came, his Majesty sch off. It was like the Day of Resurrec-
tion. People loft their decoratod places and furniture juss
as they were, but took with thom whatever money they
had., There was thankfulneys to God, hecause moreifally a
ford was found wacross the Lahor water (Rivi) where cvery-
one crossed. His AMajesly halted a few days on the river’s
bank. Then an ambassador eame from Shir Khan, The
FEmperor had decided to see him next morning, when
Mirza Kamran made i petltlcm 5By mg ‘To-morrow there

L Abii'l- f:-“L.Fl savs that Hindal's quarbers were in Khwaja Ghiel's
garden, and Huwmdayan's in Khwiija Dost soensh's.,

Bibi [Iaj, Bibl Ty, Bibt Nar, Bibi llar, B3ibl Giihar, aad 165
Shitbas are sald to have been daughters of 'Agil, brother of "Al
{ Mubammad’'s son-in law),  Thoy were famous for picty aud axectielan,
After tho murder of [mim Hnﬂm at Werbels, these ladies left Hyrin
for Tndia in obedience to a scevet intimption. They alighted outside

Lahor at the place named by Gul-Ladan and where their shrine now
is. They converted many of the townspeople to their faith, and thus
angered ihe, presumably lindf, governor. He sent his son 1o
command their departure, but the son fell under their influenee, nnd
remated near them,  This still more angered his father, who went out
against them and their followers with an srined force. . The ladies
pr&‘fed that their honour mirht be preseved, and they not be seen
by strange nien, 1mmedmtely the curth opened and sw ulluwed ther.
{Khazina'w-L-asfiya, LI 407.)
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Just now the Bmporor sald to Mirza Iindal: " Agiga
Begnia disappeared in that first interregnum ( fitratl), and
I repented extremely, and said: ** Why did T not kill her in
my own presenee?”’  Now, again, 16 18 diffienlt to convey
wonmen with us.”  Mirza lindal answered : *What it would
be to your Majesty vo kill o mother and a sister, speaks for
itself!  So long as there i life in me, I will fight in their
service. [ have hope n the most high God, that,-—poor
fellow az I am,—I may pour out my life’'s blood for iy
mother and my sisters.’

Then the Emperor set out for Fathipur (Stkrl) with
Mirza “Askarl and Yadear-nasiv Mivza and the amirs who
had come safely off the battleficld.?

Mirza Hindal sent on before him® her Highness his
mother, who wus Dil-dir Begam, and his own qister, Gul-
chihra Beoam, and Afghani aghaclie, and Gulaar aqhiacha,
and Nar-gul dqledche, and the amirs’ wives and famihes, ete. .
He was march.ng along whon the Gawars pursuced Inm
m  grest numbers. (385) Some of his troopers charged
and defeated them. An arvow struck his horse.t There
was much fighting and confugion. IHaving saved the
helpless women from the bond of the Gawars, he sont
on (to Lahdr) his mother and sister, and many of the
amirs people, cle.,, and went to Alwar. lHere he got
together tents and pavilions and numerons requisifes,
and then started for Lahor. He arrived in a few days,

e . e BBl e m 4 e mtae 8 = em— —_——

o ———

boge,, battle of Chausn.  Fofre would read move easily hoere,
Perhaps hehind gitrat is the nolion of relaxation in cflort, or of an
interval between two periods of good foriune.

* Amoenggt them was [laddar Mires, who doseribes the fugitives ag
i broken and dispirited, s in o state heartrending to tell”  Stkrei must
have rubsed salt into their wounids, sineo it reenlls Bibar's triuwmph,
Their halting-placo there was his garden, o token of his yenins for
living.

3 The known encmy, Shir Khin, woas in the rear. With Hindals
marriape-lenst fresh in nund, one may give a thought to Sultanam.
She was probably of this party, sinee her husband’s contingont was
with Hlumdyntn, and he was not on his jagir of Alwar,

v Asp domnebardk, (71 the horse which had the liappiness to bear him,
Perhaps asp is a mistako for somo word to which ¢ blessed ' would be o
more fit adjective,
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- Lahor), come all of you on® stage.” Wbhen one slage wag
renched, he began to declare, on hig oath: ‘I will not let
vou go.” Then he toock me by main force, with a hundred
weepings and complaints and laments, away from my
mothers, and my own mother and my sisters, and my
father’s people, and my brothers, and parted us who had
all grown up together from mfianey.!

I suw that the Empercor’s commuand also was 1n the
affarr. I wus helpless. (330 1 wrote a supplicud letter,
saymg: ‘I never expected your Majesty to cut off {hus In-
significant one from your serviee, and to give her to Mirza
lamran.” To this humble note ho sent a compassionate
answor {salan-inama), to thix effect: ¢ 1 had no heart to part
with you, buat the mirza persisted, and was miscrable, and
begged very hard, and I was obhiged to {rust you to him.
For just now there ig important work® on haad. God
willing, T will sond for you when 1t 13 settled.’

When the mirza was starting, many pecple, amirs and
traders and so on, made preparation with the intention of
letting their wives and families mareh under his escort to
Lihor.  When we reached (the city) news came of n battle
on the Ganges, and thal defeat had befallen the royal
army.”

At least there was this limab to misfortune,—his Majesty
and his brothers came safely through the peril.? Our other
relations® came from Agra by way of Alwar to Liahor, (38«)

Ep—— —_ —_ e —— .

U It must be remembered that Gnl-badan’s hushand, Ithivr Khwija,
was o brother of Aq Sultan {Yosin-daulat), Kineran's son-in-law, and
Kamran may liwve hind other motives than atfection for desiruag her
presence, ¢.4., the atleaetion of her hushand’s contingent.

2 The opposition of Shir Khiin, soon to be elosed at Kanauwj. Gul-
badan’s enforced deparlure with 1Gunrin saved her a pairful and
hazardous flight.

4 May 1I‘Lh 1540 ﬁIuhsm*mn 10th, 947H.). Mirzd ITaidar gives an
admirable account of it as “the battle of the Ganges.’ Gul-badan's full
brother, Hindal, led the van at Kanauag, and deful,t{,d Shir Khan's son,
Jalal, Hindil wos a suceessful general.  *Askari, Kaimraw's full brother,
w &8 defeated by I{hawis Kldin.

* Ax at Chausa, so at Kanauj, Huniyin was nmr]y drowned., Idere
he was saved by Shamsu-d-din Mubammad of Ghazni, whose wife,
under the qnhuruet of Ji-ii anaqae, hecamo a nurse of Akbar,

6 They wero convoycd by Hindil. Beeo infra.
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By the Divine mercy he grew better. He suspected that
the Lmperor’'s mothers,' by his Majesty's advice, had given
him powon. Ilis Majesty came to hear of this, and
mstantly went to see the mirzd and swore that he lad
never had such a thought, nor given such an order to any
one. Nevertheless, Mirzi Kamrin's heart was not purged.
Afterwards ho got worse, day after day, and he lost power
of speech.

When news came that Shiv Khin had left Lakhnanu, the
Emperor marched towards Kanauj, and left Mirzi Kamrin
in Agra to act for him. In a few days the mirza heard
that he had made a bridge of boats and erossed the Ganges,
On this, Le himself marched out of Agra towards Lahor.?

We had sctiled down® when he sent’ a jfurman like a
king’s, and said: ¢ You® arve commanded to go with nwe to
Liahor.”  IIo must have said® to hig Majesty about me
something of thig sort: ‘1 am very 1l and very miserable
and Ilonely, an« I have no one’ o sympathize with me, (37a)
If you will order Gul-badun Begam to go with me to Liahor,
it will be a real favour and kindness.” For his sake his
Majesty will have waid: ‘She shall go.” Two or three
days after the IEmperor had gone towards Falkhnau, the
mirzii senf o ferswin,® I royat style, to the elleet:  Most
assurcdly you will come with me” Then my mother must
have said: * She has nover travelled apart from us.” He
replied :* ¢ If she has not fravelled alone, do you also go
with her.” Ie sent as many as 500 troopers and trusty
arooms, and both hig foster-father and his foster-lrother,
and seid (fo my mother) : ¢ If she may not go with me (to

1.2., 3ibar's widows. A treacherons defection,

The royal faanily, after the Iiraperor's and the mirzi’s departure.
Perhaps from iy fiest halting-place outside the city.

Dlemrl Gral-badan, # Before vither brother left Agra.
2.0, Dt his kinsfolk, and cspeeinlly of his women kinsfolk.

"Thig, 1 think, is the one a lready named.

Y shan furmudand. This seems to mean Humayiin, and to refer
the following speech back to the carliest discussion of the project of
Gul-badan’s journoy at the tirne Huwmiyin was still in Agra. The
whole episode is confused in nar ative,

".‘-\..-I.n.-l:.:

hn ]
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news: ‘She has come to see me!” Muhammad Hindal
Mirza mado his mother happy by giving her honotrable
meeting. Ile came with her from Alwar, and paid hisg
duty to his Majesty.! About Shaikh DBahlil Fe said: ‘ He
aged to send arms and mililary appurtenances to Shir
Khan. Whon this was ascertained, I killed the shaikh on
~aceount of it,’

To put 1t briefly : m & short limg came news that Shir
Khan had come near Lakhnau.

In thoso days his Majesty had a ccrtein servant, a
water-carrier. (56} As he lad been parted from his horse
in the river af Chausa and this servant hetook Inmself to
his help and got him safe and sound oub of the current,
hiz Majesty now scaled him on the throne. 'The name of
that menial person we did not hear, some snid Nizim,
gome sald Sambal,  But to eut tho story short, )is Majesty
made the watdt-carricr servant sit on the throne, and
ordered all the amnirs o make obeisance to him, The
sorvant gave everyone what he wished, and made appoint-
ments. Ior as much ag two days the Emperor gave royal
power to that menial. DMirzi Hindal wns not presont at
iy court;? he had taken leave, and had again gone to
Alwar with the intention of getting arms ready. Neither
did Mz Kamran appear. He wag 1ll, and sent to say to
hig Majesty : “ Gifts and favours of some other kind ought
to be the servant’s reward. What propricty 1s there in
setting him on the throne ? At o time when Shi. IKhin is
near, what kind of affair is this to engage your Majesty ¢’

In those days Mirza Kamrin’s illness increased amaz-
ingly. lle hecame weak and go thin that hig face was not
in the least his own, and there was no hope of his life. (360)

T s L L e —— e L A mam Ll e

I Hindal wus received in the presence of IKimran and other kinsmen.
Humayiin said to Kimrin: *You know who is to blame! Why did
Hindal rebel? Kimrin passed on the question to Hindal himself,
who, with profound shame, pleaded that being young he had listencd
to bad advice, and begged forgivences. (Frikine's notes on Stewnrt's
Jauhar, B. M. Add. 26,608}

* Tit., in that ass mbly.
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consumed by a hundred thousand regrets and cares, and
have said: *° Why did T take her with the army 2"

A few days later he came to see my mother. He had
with him th~ Holy Book., Ie commanded the altendants
to retire' for awhile, and they rose and therc was privacy.
Then hesald to @jam (Dil-divw Began; and this msignifleant
one, and to Afghani ayhdacha, and Gul-nir aglidcia, and
Nir-gul dghdchia, and my nurse (anage): *1lmdal 1s my
strength? and my spear;® the desirable light of my eyes,
the micht of my arm, the desired, the beloved.  May what
I do be right! What shall T say to Mirzi Mubammad
Hindal about the aftair of my - bhaikh Bahlal?  What was
to be has been! Now there is no anger in my heart
against Hindal. If you do not believe 157 . . . e had
lifted up the Holy DBook when her Highness my mother,
Dii-dar Beasam, and this poor thing snatched it from lis
hand. All cried, ‘ May what you do be right! Why do
you say such things ¥’

Then agamm he spoke: f How would it be, Gul-badan, 1f
you went yourself and fetched your brother, Muhammad
Hindal Mirza?’ (356) Her Highness, my mother, said: ¢ This
pirlie (dulklitarak) 18 young., She hag never made a journey
(alone). If you approved, 1 would go.” LlLie Myjesty said :
‘If 1 give you this trouble, it 13 because 1t is clearly
incumbent on fathers and mothers to feel for their chil-
dren. If you would hononr him with a visif, it would be o
healing-valm applied for us all)’

Then he gent Air Ab@’l-bagi with hor Highness my
mothev, to feteh Mirzi Hindil. At onee on hearing this

L kinara Rardand,  This metaphor reealls the arrangement of
carpets in Persian roorus, with the carpet proper in the ceutre, an
upper end (sur-andidz) ond borders (fnare).  “Uo aside” might be a
good rendoring,

* gitl, Mongolian,—main body of nn army. *Ar gandt,

1 Here and in the aposgtroplie to Gul-badan 1 have allowed the man
to indicate the affection Humiyiin had for his half-sister and for the
revered shaikh. It might be, however (as ab * Now there is no angor,’
cf. text), the simple first person.

6 B. & H., I1., s.n..
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go to Agra, and not think of establishing yourself in
Dihli. (3:h) ’

Mirza Iamran gave heed to Mir Fagr-ali’s words, and
bestowed on him a head-to-fool dress. He *hen seized
Mirzi Ilindil and came to Agra. Io visited the tomb of
Firdans-malkani,! saw lus mother and sisters, and halted in
the Rose-scattering® Gurden.

At this time Nur Deg brought word of his Majesty's
coming.”  As Mirza IIndal was exceluded from the nresence
because of the murder of Shaikh DBahlil, he went to
Alwar.*

A few days after his Majesty’s arrival, Mirzd Kamran
came from the Rose-scattering Garden and paid his respects
to him. We paid our respects on the evening of the day
he eame. Ile took notico of this insignificant one, and was
kindly pleased to say: ‘1 did not know youn at firrt, beeause
when I led the army (whose footprints are victorious™) to
Ganr Bangala, you wore the high cap {fé), and now when
I saw the mushn cof® I did not recogmise you. And oh,
my (zul-badan, [ used very often to think of you, and was
sometimes sorry, and said @ ‘1 do wish Thad brought her!”
But at the time of the disaster ( #frdf) I was thankfnl 1
had not, and T saad : (33¢) * Thank God I did not bring Gul-
badan !’ T'or although "Aqiqa’ was young, I have been

Bibar's remaing then had not been conveyed to abul in 1539,
(7} Grold-seattering, My, Krsline ealls it so, and it is likely to ho
that already mentioned by Gul-badasn more than onee,

* Hetreating from Chiausa.

t His own jigir,

* gafr-wgar, "This, after Chausa, can only be & precative of Gul-
badan’s.

¢ This change appears to indieate that Gul-badan, who is about
eightecn or nineteen years old, has been wmarried. The Persian has
lachaq qasdha, without conjunction. Steingass sud Johnson describe
the lachiay ns a square mantle worn by womcen, ‘doubled into a
triangle, but here the description given in the Burlidn-i-gdatd’ is more
dpropos, t.e, & square of stull folded cornerwise and put upon the
head so that the corners tie under the chin. It is often {/.¢.) claborately
cmbroidored in gold., Quxdba nppears to have the sanie meaning as
larfiag.

T Cf. p. 830,

11
=
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child, and Shad Bibi, all three! (sie) of whom were of his
Majcsty’s haram. Of these several people, he never heard
even 8 word, as to whether they were drowned or what
became of them. In spite of all possible inqguiry and
search, whal had become of them was never found out.

His own illness® dragged on for forty days, and he then
erew better.

At this time, when Khusrau Beg (Lakuliash), and
Diwana Beg, and Zabid Beg, and Sayyid Amir, had come
on In advance of his Majesty, news again arrived that the
mirzas, Muhammaod Sultan Mirza and his song, had come
to Kanau]. {(214)

After Shaikh Bahlol's murder, Mirza Hindial went to
Dihli.  He took with him Mir Faqr-all and other well-
wishers to frustrate and disperse the mirzas, The mirzas
fled, and ecame inte the Kanau) quarter. BMir Faqr-ali
brought Mirza Yadgar-nasir to Dihli.  As there was
neither friendiiness nor eonfidence between Mirza Hindal
and Mirza Yadgar-nasir, Mirzit 1lindal, when Mir Faqr-ali
made this mistake, sat down out of sheer annoyance and
besieged Dihii?

When Mirza IGimran heard these things, there arvose
in him also a desire of sovercignty. With 12,000 fully
equipped horsemen he went fo Iihli. Mir Faqr-ali and
Muzi Yadgiar-ndsiv closed the cily gates on his approach.
Two or threo days later, AMir Faqr-ali, having made an
agreement, went and saw Mizriv kimrin. He represented :
‘The nows heard of his Majesty and bhir khan may be
so and go.' Mirzia Yiadgar-nasir, from thonght of his own
interest, does not wait on you. The advisalble course ab
this erisis ig, that you should lay hands on DMirza Hindal,
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I Perhaps the copyist has otlited a name; perhaps, as a child of
Humiyin, ‘Aqiqa 18  of the Aarant!

* From his wound or from distress of mind. The ‘forty days’
sugeest the ceremonial terin of mourning.

3 The whole of the above paragraph it would be safest to hide with
Hindal under his sister’s eharitable cloak. T'or a historieal aceount
of the time, see 13. & H., IT1.,, Book TV, Cap. IV,

1 Clearly the il nows of the rcuf at Chausa,



